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FILED

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT DEC 1 4 2000
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
WESTERN DIVISION KENNETH J. MURPHY, Clerk
CINCINNATI, ORIO
DEBRA CULBERSON, et al., NO: C-1-97-965
Plaintiffs, - o L&f}a
ORDER Lo
V. R e
VINCENT DOAN, et al., S QHTL
Defendants.

This matter is before the Court on Defendants' Motions
for Summary Judgment (docs. 128 & 131); Plaintiffs’ Response (doc.
139); and Defendants' Replies (docgs. 140 & 141). In addition the

Court held a hearing in this matter on November 16, 2000 {(doc.

142} .

BACKGROUND

A. Intreduction to the Parties and the Complaint

The Estate of Clarissa Ann Culberson, Clarissasa
Culberson's parents, Debra and Reger Culberson, and her sgister,
Christina Marie Culberson {(hereinafter, collectively referred to as
"plaintiffs® or the "Culberson Family") originally brought this
action on October 24, 1987, pursuant to the "Violence Against Women
Act of 1994," Title 42 U.S.C. § 13981, et geq., additional civil

rights and due process violations, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,




and three state law torts against Vincent Doan (hereinafter,
"Doan"), Lawrence Baker, Tracey Baker (hereinafter, collectively
referred to as the "Bakers" or the "Bakexr Family"}, Richard Payton,
individually and in his official capacity asg Chief of Police of the
village of Blanchester (hereinafter, "Defendant Pavton® or "Chief
Payton®), and the Village of Blanchester (hereinafter, the
"Village® or the "Village of Blanchester") {(doc. 1).

The Vvillage of Blanchester ig a unit of government
organized under the laws of the State of Ohio and is physically
located within the jurisdiction of Clinton County (Id.).

In addition, Plaintiffs allege in theilr Complaint that
Defendant Richard Payton has at all times relevant to this action
been the Chief of Police of the Village of Blanchester, Chico (Id.).
Furthermore, Plaintiffs assert that Chief Payton is the highest
ranking law enforcement official in the Village (Id.). Plaintiffs
further allege that all of his actions, as alleged in the
Complaint, were taken within the scope of his employment as an
employee of the Village of Blanchester and that is why they are
suing Chief Payton in his individual, as well as official capacity
(Id.) .

Jurisdiction over the federal civil rights claims is
conferred by Title 28 U.8.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(3})~(4). Jurisdiction
over the state law claimg is conferred by Title 28 U.8.C. §

1367{a}.



B. Statement of the Facts

The facts as alleged by Plaintiffs in thelr Complaint
{gee doc. 1) and in their Response {gee doc. 139} concerning the
disappearance and subsequentiy—ruled death of Clarissa Culberson
{hereinafter, "Carrie®" or "Carrie Culberson®) are sketchy, yet they
tell a grim tale of domestic abuse.

Plaintiffs Debra and Roger Culberson are the parents éf
Carrie Culberson, who was allegedly killed by Vincent Doan on or
about August 28, 199%6, at the age of 22 years old (gee docs. i &
1398) . Plaintiff Christina Culberson is the sister of Carrie
Culberson. Vincent Doan is the son of Defendant Lawrence Raker and
Doan is the half-brother of Defendant Tracey Baker. In the
Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that Chief Payton is a close, personal
friend of the individually named Defendants. |

Carrie lived with her mother and sister in Blanchester,
Ohio. During 1995, Carrie and Doan dated on a regular basis.
Plaintiffs allege that, in the Fall of 198%5, Doan began to
physically abuse Carrie., Plaintiffs contend that on one occasion
Doan ¥Ytightly clamped his hand over the nose, mouth and throat of
[Carriel, who injured her face trying to pry his fingers off her
mouth” (gee doc. 1 9§ 13). Plaintiffs maintain that the abuse
continued in 1996, pointing to an incident in which Doan smashed
the windows of (arrie’'s car as she sat in the vehicle. Although
Carrie allegedly reported the incident to the Village of
Blanchester Police Department, Plaintiffs assert that no charges

were ever filed against Doan and the abuse by Doan intensified.



For example, Plaintiffs allege that Doan subsequently
attacked Carrie in April, July, and August of 19%6. Asg a result of
the April 1996 attack, Plaintiffs contend that Doan caused injuries
to Carrie's head and kidneys. Thereafter, Carrie allegedly filed
a report with the Village police, however, the police did not bring
any charges against Doan. On July 5, 19896, Plaintiffs allege that
Doan forced his way into Carrie's home and threatened her in order
to prevent Carrie from having any contact with other men.

During this incident, Doan allegedly pushed Carrie's
mother, Debra Culberson, in an unsuccessful attempt to assault
Carrie. Debra Culberson alsco filed a criminal report with the
Village police regarding the incident, but asserts that, the police
did not respond to the report, and, thus, the abuse was allowed to
continue.

For instance, on July 28, 19%6, Plaintiffs allege that
Doan again attacked Carrie when she came to his house while on an
errand. Plaintiffs assert that, during this assault, he threw
Carrie across a room and struck her in the head with a wmetal
object, causing her to need surgical staples in her scalp. Carrie
again sought criminal charges after this attack through the Village
poiiqe. However, according to Plaintiffs, Carrie’s atteupts to get
help were again unsuccegsful and Doan was never invesgtigated or
arrested for his assaulte that were inflicted upon her. On August
26, 19%6, approximately three days before Doan allegedly murdered
Carrie, Plaintiffs assert that he held her at gunpoint in a barn

located within the area of the Village of Blanchester.



On August 28, 1996, at approximately 12:20 a.m., a
neighbor of Doan witnessed him hitting Carrie in the head. At
approximately 1:30 a.m., Doan allegedly spoke with his father,
Lawrence Baker, on the telephone about an undisclosed matter. At
3:1% a.m., Doan allegedly arrived at the residence of his brother,
Tracey Baker, with blood on his chest, arms, and pants. Doan then
allegedly took a shower and left the residence with Tracey Baker,
who wag carrying a handgun and garbage bags.

On the same morning of_August 29, 1996, at approximately
11:00 a.m., Debra Culberson reported her daughter missing to the
Village of Blanchester Police Chief, Defendant Payton. Debra
Culberson also reminded Chief Payton at that time of the previous
threats Doan had made to Carrie and the criminal reports filed by
Carrie during the preceding weeks., Plaintiffs contend that Chief
Pavton responded with the question, "Why does she {[Carrie] keep
going back to it?" (doc. 1 § 21)).  Plaintiffs assert that Chief
Payton did not investigate Doan, but went instead to Lawrence
Baker's home later that day and allegedly warned him that Carrie
had been reported missing and that Decan would be a suspect.

Lawrence Baker's home ig located within the jurisdiction
of C(Clermont County, and is, therefore, Ilocated outside the
jurisdiction of Clinton County, and, thus, allegedly cutsgide of the
jurisdiction of Chief Payton (gee docs. 128 & 131).

On September 3, 1996, the Village's police department,
along with other Jlaw enforcement perscnnel f£rom surrounding

jurisdictions, performed a search of Lawrence Baker's junk vard,



which, as stated earlier, was actually located in Clermont County.
Specifically, this search was conducted by law enforcement officers
from the Clermont County Sheriff's Office, the Brown County
Sheriff's Office, and the Village of Blanchester's Police
Department. However, according to Plaintiffs, Chief Payton was
either the lead law enforcement official on the scene or the
officer who was in charge of the actual gsearch of Lawrence Baker's
property. |

During the September 3, 189%6-search, a blood hound and a
cadaver dog brought a small pond located on Lawrence Baker's
property to the attention of the search team;.in&icating that the
dogs may have detected Carrie's scent. The search team officers
allegedly informed Chief Payton that they wanted the pond drained
on the Baker Family property, however, Chief Payton inexplicably
declined to proceed with the search that day and advised everyone
to leave the premises. Lawrence Baker was supposgedly present
during the search, as well as a witness to its termination. When
the pond was drained the next day, footprints were visible on the
bottom of the pond and a muddy path of weeds led away from the
pond, which possibly indicated that something or someone was
recently removed from the pond, or that somecne had recently
entered the pond.

Carrie‘'s disappearance was eventually ruled a homicide
even though her body was never found. Subsequently, Doan was
charged with Carrie's murder. Tracey Baker wasg charged with

obstruction of justice, tampering with evidence, and gross abuse of

6




a corpge. Lawrence Baker was also criminally charged in Carrie's
disappearance,

On August 7, 19927, a jury found Doan guilty of aggravated
murder with one capital offense specification, and three counts of
kidnaping in the Clinton County Court of Common Pleas.® He was
sentenced to life imprisonment without parole. Tracey Baker's
trial began in the Clinton County Court of Common Pleas on May 20,
19%8. ©On June 4, 1998, a jury found Tracey Baker guilty of two
counts of obstruction of justice and one count of tampering with
evidence. Tracey Baker was found not guilty of gross abuse of a
corpse. The trial of Lawrence Baker began in the Clinton County
Court of Common Pleag on Augusi 18, 1398. On Augusht 25, 1998, the

jury returned three not guilty verdicts against Lawrence Baker.

¢. Procedural History

On October 24, 1887, more than a vyear after Carrie's
disappearance, Plaintiffs filed a civil complaint in federal court
against Defendants Vincent Doan, Lawrence Baker, Tracey Baker,
Richard Payton and the Village of Blanchester, seeking both
monetary and indunctive relief (gee doc. 1}. In their Complaint,
Plaintiffs claim that Doan's actions toward Carrie were based
primarily on account of her gender in viclation of the Violence

Against Women's Act of 19%4, 42 U.8.C. § 13981 {Id.). Furthermore,

'See State v. Doan, No. CR-97-5-077 (Clinton County Ct. of

Common Pleas Aug. 7, 1997); sece also State v. Doan, No, CA-97-12-
014, 2000 WL 2219863 (Ohio Ct. App. Feb. 28, 2000} (affirming
Doan's trial court conviction).



Plaintiffs assert that the actions of Defendants Vincent Doan,
Lawrence Bakexr, Tracey Baker, and Police Chief Payton "were
willful, wanton, malicicus, or in reckless disregard or indifferent
to the safety of Carrie Culberson and to the peace of mind, rights,
including rights of familial association of Debra Culberson, Roger
Culberson, and Christina Culberson" (Id. ¥ 34). Plaintiffs also
claim that Defendants violated their civil rightes under 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983, as protected by the Fourteenth Amendment of the
Constitution (Id.).

Additicnally, Plaintiffs assert state law claimg of
emotional distress, wrongful death, obstruction of justice, and

conspiracy against all Defendants (Id.). Shortly thereafter,

Defendants filed their Answers asserting a general denial of
Plaintiffs' causes of actions and defending with several
affirmagive defenses in response to Plaintifis’' claims {docs. 2, 3,
7, 8 & 58}.

In their Answers, Defendants strongly dispute many of
Plaintiffs' material, factual, and legal allegations contained in
the Complaint and defend their actions by asserting that they acted
reasonably under the circumstances, without malice or fault, and
contending that Defendants Doan and Tracy Baker are solely
responsible for the tragic death of Carrie Culberson, as well as
the resulting and expected grief of Plaintiffs {(Id.).

As earlier noted, in this action, Plaintiffs seek
injunctive relief ordering Defendants to disclose the location of

Carrie Culberson's corpse so that she may be given an appropriate
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burial {doc. 1}. In addition, Plaintiffs request compensatory and
punitive damages, as well as reasonable attorney fees (Id.). The
subsequent procedural history of this case in federal court can
only be described as complex and lengthy.

On July 1, 1998, Defendant Doan filed a Motion to Dismiss
Plaintiffs® Complaint asserting that Count I of the Complaint, "The
Violence Against Women's Act," enacted by the C(ongress was
unconstitutional (doc. 12). The c¢ivil provisions of the Violence
Against Women's Act of 1994 (hereinafter, the "VAWA" or *the Act"),
Pub., L. No. 103-322 § 40001-40703, 108 Stakb. 17%6, 1902-55,
provides a claimant with a civil right to be free from crimes of
violence motivated by gender and a federal civil rights cause of
action for victims of crimes of viclence wotivated by gender. See
Title 42 U.S.C. §§ 13981 (a)~-(c).?

In order to establish a cause of action under the VAWA,
the claimant must show (1} that she wag a victim of a crime of
violence and (2) that the crime was motivated based on her gendex.
42 U.8.C. § 13981(c). The claimant does not need to show that
there has been a prior criminal complaint, prosecution, or

conviction against the defendant. 42 U.S.C. § 13%81i{e) {(2).

2 The VAWA provides that *"[{alll persons within the United

States shall have the right to be free from crimes of vioclence
motivated by gender." 42 U.S.C. § 13981 (b}. Although Congress
provided both criminal and civil provisions in the VAWA to
address acts of vioclence against women, for the purposes of the
instant matter, all references to the Act in thig Order are in
regards to the civil provisions.



a4 e e o Y, U TR

The Act defines a "crime of violence® as ®an act or
series of acts that would constitute a felony . . . whether or not
those acts have actually resulted in criminal charges, prosecution,
or conviction," 42 U.8.C. § 13981(d) {2} (A}, or acts that would
constitute a felony "but for the relationship between" the parties,
i.e., marriages in states where laws exist to provide spousal
immunity.? 42 U.S.C. § 13981(d){2)(B). Additionally, the Act
defines the term "crime motivated by gender® as a crime committed
by the defendant "because of gender or on the basis of gender, and
due, at least in part, to an animus based on the victim's gender.

.. 42 U.S.C. 0§ 13981{d) (1.

In our April 8, 1899 Ordexr, this Court jolined many other
federal courts in helding that the VAWA was indeed congtitutional,
and, therefore, Plaintiffs' Complaint stated a claim upon which
relief could be granted {(dog¢. 56). See Culberson v. Doan, 65 F.
Supp. 24 701, 714 (8.D. Ohioc Apr. 8, 1999). On September 4, 1998,
Plaintiffs filed a C(ross-Motion £for Partial Summary Judgment
against Defendant Vincent Doan only, alleging that there were no
genuine issues as to any material fact and that Plaintiffs were
entitled to judgment as a matter of law as to Claim I, violation of

the VAWA (doc. 24)}.

3 For instance, the VAWA provides spousal-victims of

crimes of vicolence in states such ag Louisiana and Georgia, whose
laws prevent victims from bringing tort claims in state courts
because of inter-spousal tort immunity statutes, the ability to
bring claims in federal court and seek damages. Ig.
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On October 12, 1999, this Court denied Plaintiffs' Motion
for Summary Judgment as to Count I, the VAWA, of the Complaint for
the following reasons:

‘Procedural and discovery differences between
the criminal and c¢ivil forums coupled with a
defendant's dilemma over whether to testify in
his own behalf, or present any defense at the
criminal trial, make preclusion in this
instance a precarious practice and, we
believe, unwise practice.' Phillips, 113 Ohio
App. 3d at 382, 680 N.E.2d at 1284; gee also
Walden v, State, 47 Ohio St. 3d 47, 51-52, B47
N.E.2d 962, 965-67 (1389) (holding that there
are sgeveral qualitative differences between
eriminal and c¢ivil actions which 'militate
against giving criminal judgments preclusive
effect in civil or guasi-civil litigaticn'}.
We agree with Plaintiffs in their general
position that the Ohio c¢ourts have made -
exceptions, in the interest of justice and
fairness, to the mutuality regulirement in
regards to issue preclusion. However, we must
also note that the mutuality regquirement,
though weakened with exceptions, has not been
expressly overruled by subsequent case law or
by statute. Plaintiffs all but concede this
point in their briefs, but they alsc plead
with this Court to find in their favor so that
‘Carrie Culberson's parents and sister should
not be forced to relitigate defendant Doan's
guilt’ (doc. 32).

(doc. $2); see alse Culberson v, Doan, 72 F. Supp. 2d 865, 873
(§.D. Ohioc Oct. 12, 1999} (same).

Subsequent to this Court's April 1899 and October 19995
decisions, the United States Supreme Court in the case of United
States v, Morrison, 529 U.S8. %88, 120 S.Ct. 1740, 1754 (May 18,
2000) found the VAWA unconstitutional finding, in pertinent part:

We accordingly reject the argument that

Congress may regulate nconeconomic, violent

criminal conduct based solely on that
~conductts aggregate effect on interstate
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commerce., The Congtitution requires a

distinction between what is truly national and

what is truly local. In recognizing this

fact, we preserve one of the few principles

that has been consistent since the [Commerce]

Clause was adopted. The regulation and

punishment of intrastate violence that is not

directed at the instrumentalities, channels,

or goods involved in interstate commerce has

always been the province of the States.

Morrison, 120 8.Ct. at 1754 (internal citations omitted).

Shortly thereafter, Plaintiffs filed a stipulation of
dismissal of "all claims against [Defendants] Vincent Doan, Tracey
Raker, and Lawrence Baker" (doc. 97). In additlion, in the notice
of dismisgal, Plaintiffs further veoluntarily dismissed all claims
against Defendants Richard Payton and Village of Blanchester
Texcept the 42 U.8.C. Section 1983 due process c¢laim, the
intentional emotional distress c¢laim, and the obstruction of
justice claim® (Id.). PFurthermore, Plaintiffs asserted that all of
the Parties to this action were in "agreement to this dismigsal®

(Id.) .

DP. Yhe Court’s Holding

On September 29, 2000, Defendantsg filed their Motions for
Summary Judgment asserting that there are no genuine issues of
material fact, and, therefore, they are entitled to judgment in
their favor as a matter of law (docs. 128 & 131}. Thereafter,
Plaintiffs filed their Response {(doc. 139}, followed by Defendants
Replies {docs. 140 & 141). In addition, the Court held a hearing

in this matter on November 16, 2000 {doc. 142). This matter is
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now ripe for the Court's determination.

Before the Court are two Motions for Summary Judgment
{docs. 128 & 131). The moving parties consist of two Defendants,
the former Police Chief for the Village of Blanchester and the
Village itself {(doc. 1). Both Motions have been fully briefed and
a hearing was held in this matter on Nevember 16, 2000. The non-
noving consist of three Plaintiffs who have filed their Response to
Defendant's Motions (doc. 139).

Having reviewed this matter and for the reasons stated in
the Discussion Section of this Order, as well as our finding that
genuine issues of material fact exist in regards to many of the
issues in this action, the Cogrt concludes that Defendants! Motions
for Summary Judgment should be GRANTED-IN-PART and DENIED-IN-PART
(docs. 128 & 131).

The Court's holding did not take into consideration the
purported "no contest® plea agreement entered into by Chief Payton,
as a result of his official actiong that were taken on September 3,
1996 at the Baker Family property, because we believe that lssue
would be better decided in a motion-in-limine, rather than on a
motion for summary judgment. Rather, This Court shall address that
issue in the Conclusion Section of this Order, as well as a

Scheduling Order for the trial on the merits.
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STANDARD OF REVIEW

The narrow question that we must decide on a motion for
summary judgment is whether there exists a "genuine issue as to any
material fact and [whether] the moving party is entitled to
judgment as a matter of law." Fed. R. Civ. P, 56{c}. The Supreme
Court elaborated upon the appropriate standard in deciding a motion
for summary judgment ag follows:

[Tlhe plain language of Rule 56 (¢} mandates

the entry of summary judgment, after adequate

time for discovery and upon motion, against a

party who fails to make a ghowing sufficient

to establish the existence of an element

essential to that party's case and on which

that party will bear the burxden of proof at

trial. :

Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986;.

The moving party has the initial burden of showing the
absence ©f a genuine issue of material fact as to an essential
element of the non-movant's case. Id. at 321; Guarino v. Brogkfield
Township Trustees, 980 F.2d 399, 405 (6™ Cir. 1992); Street v. J.C.

Bradford & Co., 886 F.2d 1472, 1479 (6 Cir. 1989). If the moving

party meets this burden, then the non-wmoving party "must set forth
specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial." Fed,
R. Civ. P. 56(e}; sgee Guarino, 980 F.2d at 405.

As the Supreme Court stated in {elotex, the non-moving
party must "designate" specific facts showing there is a genuine
issue for trial. Celotex, 477 U.S. at 324; Guarino, 980 ?.2& at
405. Although the burden might not require the non-moving party to

tdegignate” facts by citing page numbers, "'the degignated portions

14



must be presented with encugh specificity that the district court
can readily identify the facts upon which the non-moving party

relies.'" Guarino, 980 F.2d at 405 {guoting Inter-Roval Corp. v.

Sponseller, 889 F.2d 108, 111 (6™ Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 494
U.8. 1091 (1990)}.

Summary judgment is not appropriate if the evidence ig

such that a reasonable ijury could return a verdict for the non-

moving party. Anderson v Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248

{19886} . Conclusory allegations, however, are not sufficient to

defeat a meotion for summary judgment. McDonald v. Union Camp Corp.,
898 F.2d 1155, 1162 (6" Cir. 199%0).

DISCUSSICN

A. Intreduction

An action under Title 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is supplemental to
a common law action arising out of the same factual circumstances

and these actions may be pursued simultaneously. Bralev v, Citvy of

pontiac, 906 F.2d 220, 223 (6™ Cir. 1990) (citing Monroce v. Pape,

365 U.s. 167 (1961})). What is involved in this case is an alleged
deprivation of Plaintiffs' liberty interest without due process of
law. This can be analyzed under procedural and substantive due
process analyses.

The Plaintiffs, Debra Culberson, individually and as

Executrix of the Estate of Clarisgsa Culberson, Christina Marie
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